Notes by Dr. Adrian Barlow, of the Kempe Society, following his visit to Danehill and his talk in All Saints Church on June 2nd 2004

Bodley and Kempe at All Saints, Danehill

All Saints, Danehill, is unusual in having such a beautiful and arresting setting; it is distinguished in being one of the finest village churches built by a great Victorian architect at the height of his powers and reputation; and it is unique in the extent of the collaboration between architect and stained glass designer. No other Bodley church in the world (and his work stretches from the National Cathedral in Washington DC to Hobart Cathedral in Tasmania) has more windows from the studios of Charles Eamer Kempe (whose glass can be seen even further afield than Bodley’s buildings – in Christchurch, New Zealand).

 George Frederick Bodley (1827-1907) and Kempe (1837-1907) both grew up in Brighton; Bodley’s father was the Kempe family doctor. Kempe first studied church architecture and decoration under Bodley before deciding to concentrate on stained glass. One of the first churches where they were both involved was Cuckfield, which Bodley restored at the start of his career in the 1850s and where the painted roof is one of Kempe’s earliest and greatest achievements. By the time Bodley was commissioned to build All Saints, he was the leading church architect of his day and Kempe, the leading stained glass designer. Their styles harmonized exceptionally well, and it is no accident that two other major commissions that overlapped with Danehill, Clumber Chapel (Nottinghamshire); now owned by the National Trust) and the Chapel of Queens’ College Cambridge should also have seen Bodley and Kempe working closely together. 

The beauty and atmosphere of All Saints owes much to their vision. Three examples will serve. The East window has tracery designed by Bodley in a way that looks familiarly Perpendicular (late 14th. century) but is completely original. Bodley was never content merely to copy. No window of that period has a central light that rises sheer through the tracery to the apex of the arch. And this unique design allows Kempe to place the crucifixion in dramatic isolation, above the figures of saints and bishops and, literally, above hell where Christ is seen preaching to the souls of the departed, including Adam and Eve. In other such windows the crucifixion (Christ on the cross attended by the Virgin and St John) would have been surrounded by apostles and martyrs. Bodley’s design of the tracery and Kempe’s design of the glass create a focal point for the church, an East window that is both traditional and startlingly original.

Bodley was also famous for his organ cases. Danehill’s is a fine but modest one, beautifully painted, and highly unusual in being placed on top of the screen. How often have you seen an organ is such a position, except in a cathedral? Bodley had just placed one on a screen at the west end of a chapel (Queens’ Cambridge, 1891). Now at Danehill he adapts a rood loft into an organ loft – and the organ fills the space under the chancel arch very effectively. Placed here, the organ case emphasizes the division between nave and chancel – a division already established by the transition from open pitched roof for the nave to painted barrel vault (Bodley’s favourite style of roof) over the chancel and sanctuary. And having seen how effective an organ could be in this position, Bodley repeated the effect shortly afterwards in his great church for the Cowley Fathers, St John the Evangelist in Oxford, which again has fine stained glass by Kempe.

Bodley and Kempe would be gratified to see how faithfully generations of congregations at Danehill have preserved their design and decoration of the church, though the original altar frontals have disappeared. They would have approved the choice of Sir Ninian Comper, who had studied with both of them at the start of his career, to provide the reredos behind the high altar. Only the moving of the font from under the tower represents a major, if understandable, reordering. But this allows a visitor to look all the more closely at the beautiful glass in the tower’s west wall. It is a simple Annunciation, with Gabriel arriving to greet Mary who, startled, half turns to confront her visitor and her destiny. Both figures (derived from the same cartoons used by the Kempe Studios for the famous East window of Little St. Mary’s Church in Cambridge) deserve close study. The expressions of each face, the clothes each figure wears, the colour of their robes and of Gabriel’s wings: all these are hall marks of Kempe glass. The painting of each figure should be attributed to Alfred Tombleson, a remarkable artist who was Kempe’s master glass painter.

In only three years (2007) it will be time to mark the centenary of both Kempe and Bodley. Both men were in their way eminent Victorians, whose legacy deserves to be better known. Kempe is commemorated with a fine but hidden memorial in Chichester Cathedral; Bodley is buried in an obscure Herefordshire churchyard. All Saints Danehill, in their native Sussex, uniquely embodying and faithfully preserving the essential character of their work, would be a fitting place to launch such a celebration. 
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